Company Number: 05084125

### THE COMPANIES ACT 2006

#### **COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE**

### ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

OF

#### THE PERSONAL FINANCE SOCIETY

### 1. **OPERATIVE CLAUSES**

In these Articles the following expressions have the following meanings unless inconsistent with the context:

"the Act" The Companies Act 2006 including any statutory

modification or re-enactment thereof for the time

being in force

"Annual Business Plan" a business plan in a form to be approved by the

Institute and outlining plans for the Society's activities, budgets, projected financial results and

strategy for each year

"these Articles" these Articles of Association, whether as

originally adopted or as from time to time altered

by special resolution

"the Board" the board of directors of the Society

"clear days" in relation to the period of a notice means that

period excluding the day when the notice is given or deemed to be given and the day for which it is

given or on which it is to take effect

"the directors" the directors for the time being of the Society or

(as the context shall require) any of them acting as the board of directors of the Society and which for the avoidance of doubt includes Member

**Directors and Non-Member Directors** 

"executed" includes any mode of execution

"Full Member" a person being a member of the Society under

Article 4.1 hereof

"the Institute" The Chartered Insurance Institute

"Institute Director" an employee of the Institute appointed by the

Institute as a Non-Member Director pursuant to

Article 9.13

"Lay Director" a person appointed by the Society as a Non-

Member Director pursuant to Article 9.8

**"Member Director"** has the meaning given to it in Article 9.2

"Model Articles" the model articles for private companies limited

by guarantee contained in Schedule 2 of the Companies (Model Articles) Regulations 2008 (SI 2008/3229) as amended prior to the date of

adoption of these Articles

"Nominations Committee" the committee appointed pursuant to Article 15.

"Non-Member Director" an Institute Director or a Lay Director

**"office"** the registered office of the Society

"seal" the common seal of the Society (if any)

"secretary" the company secretary of the Society or any other

person appointed to perform the duties of the company secretary of the Society, including a

joint, assistant or deputy company secretary

"the Society" the Personal Finance Society Limited

"the United Kingdom" Great Britain, Northern Ireland, Channel Islands

and Isle of Man.

1.2 Save as otherwise specifically provided in these Articles, words and expressions which have particular meanings in the Model Articles shall have the same meanings

in these Articles, subject to which and unless the context otherwise requires, words and expressions which have particular meanings in the Act shall have the same meanings in these Articles but excluding any statutory modification of them not in force on the date when these Articles become binding on the Company.

- 1.3 Headings in these Articles are used for convenience only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of these Articles.
- 1.4 A reference in these Articles to an "article" is a reference to the relevant article of these Articles unless expressly provided otherwise.
- 1.5 Any phrase introduced by the terms "including", "include", "in particular" or any similar expression shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit the sense of the words preceding those terms.
- 1.6 Save as expressly provided otherwise in these Articles, any reference to any statutory provision shall be deemed to include a reference to each and every statutory amendment, modification, re-enactment and extension thereof for the time being in force.

#### 2. **ADOPTION OF THE MODEL ARTICLES**

- 2.1 The Model Articles shall apply to the Company, except insofar as they are modified or excluded by these Articles or are inconsistent with these Articles, and, subject to any such modifications, exclusions or inconsistencies, shall together with these Articles constitute the articles of association of the Company to the exclusion of any other articles or regulations set out in any statute or in any statutory instrument or other subordinate legislation.
- 2.2 Article 27, 25(2), 12(4), 9(1), 14 and 38(1) of the Model Articles shall not apply to the Company.

# 3. Company Objects

- 3.1 The Company's name is "The Personal Finance Society" ("the Society").
- 3.2 The Society's registered office is to be situated in England and Wales.
- 3.3 The Society's objects for which the Society is established ("the Objects") are to promote and facilitate the provision of financial advice, in particular (but without limiting the generality of the foregoing) advice relating to personal and corporate investment planning, life assurances, pensions, personal general insurances,

mortgages, taxation and trusts and advice bearing on any branch of insurance which the Society thinks fit including (but without limiting the generality of the foregoing) the education of persons involved in the giving of such advice, the dissemination to and among such persons of information and opinions relating to such advice and the promotion of the professional development of persons involved in giving of such advice.

- 3.4 In furtherance of the Objects but not further or otherwise the Society may exercise the following powers ("the Powers"):
  - 3.4.1 to carry on any activity or business whatever which can in the opinion of the board of directors be advantageously carried on in connection with or as being ancillary to any of the other activities or businesses of the Society;
  - 3.4.2 to purchase or by any other means acquire and take options over any property whatever, and any rights or privileges of any kind over or in respect of any property;
  - 3.4.3 to amalgamate with any company or organisation having objects similar to those of the Society;
  - 3.4.4 to acquire and undertake the whole or any part of the business, goodwill and assets of any person, firm, or company carrying on or proposing to carry on any of the businesses which the Society is authorised to carry on and as part of the consideration for any such acquisition to undertake all or any of the liabilities of such person, firm or company, or to acquire an interest in, amalgamate with, or enter into partnership or into any arrangement for sharing profits, or for co-operation, or for mutual assistance with any such person, firm or company, or for subsidising or otherwise assisting any such person, firm or company, and to give or accept, by way of consideration for any of the acts or things aforesaid or property acquired, any shares, debentures, debenture stock or securities that may be agreed upon, and to hold and retain, or sell, mortgage and deal with any shares, debentures, debentures stock or securities so received;
  - 3.4.5 to improve, manage, construct, repair, develop, exchange, let on lease or otherwise, mortgage, charge, sell, dispose of, turn to account, grant licences, options, rights and privileges in respect of, or otherwise deal with all or any part of the property and rights of the Society;

- 3.4.6 to invest and deal with the moneys of the Society not immediately required in such manner as may from time to time be determined by the board of directors and to hold or otherwise deal with any investments made;
- 3.4.7 to lend and advance money or give credit on any terms and with or without security to any person, firm or company (including without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing any holding company, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of, or any other company associated in any way with, the Society) and to receive money on deposit or loan upon any terms;
- 3.4.8 to guarantee or otherwise support or secure, either with or without the Society receiving any consideration or advantage and whether by personal covenant or by mortgaging or charging all or any part of the undertaking, property, assets, rights and revenues (present and future) of the Society, or by both such methods or by any other means whatever, the performance of the liabilities and obligations of and the repayment or payment of any moneys whatever by any person, firm or company, including (but not limited to):
  - 3.4.8.1 any liabilities and obligations whatever of, and the repayment or payment of any moneys whatever by, any company which is for the time being or is likely to become the Society's holding company or a subsidiary of the Society or another subsidiary of the Society's holding company or otherwise associated with the Society in business; and
  - 3.4.8.2 any liabilities and obligations incurred in connection with or for the purpose of the acquisition of shares in any company which is for the time being the Society's holding company in so far as the giving of any such guarantee or other support or security is not prohibited by law; and
  - 3.4.8.3 the repayment or payment of the principal amounts of, and premiums, interest and dividends on, any borrowings and securities;
- 3.4.9 to borrow and raise money in any manner and to secure the repayment of any money borrowed, raised or owing by mortgage, charge, standard security, lien or other security upon the whole or any part of the Society's property or assets (whether present or future), and also by a similar mortgage, charge, standard security, lien or security to secure and guarantee

- the performance by the Society of any obligation or liability it may undertake or which may become binding on it;
- 3.4.10 to draw, make, accept, endorse, discount, negotiate, execute and issue cheques, bills of exchange, promissory notes, bills of lading, warrants, debentures, and other negotiable or transferable instruments;
- 3.4.11 to apply for, promote, and obtain any Act of Parliament, order, or licence of the Department of Trade or other authority for enabling the Society to carry any of its objects into effect, or for effecting any modification of the Society's constitution, or for any other purpose which may seem to the board of directors to be calculated directly or indirectly to promote the Society's interests, and to oppose any proceedings or applications which may seem to such board to be calculated directly or indirectly to prejudice the Society's interests;
- 3.4.12 to enter into any arrangements with any government or authority (supreme, municipal, local, or otherwise) that may seem to the board of directors conducive to the attainment of the Society's objects or any of them, and to obtain from any such government or authority any charters, decrees, rights, privileges or concessions which such board may think desirable and to carry out, exercise, and comply with any such charters, decrees, rights, privileges and concessions;
- 3.4.13 to control, manage, finance, subsidise, co-ordinate or otherwise assist any company or companies in which the Society has a direct or indirect financial interest, to provide secretarial, administrative, technical, commercial and other services and facilities of all kinds for any such company or companies and to make payments by way of subvention or otherwise and any other arrangements which may seem to the board of directors to be desirable with respect to any business or operations of or generally with respect to any such company or companies;
- 3.4.14 to promote any other company for the purpose of acquiring the whole or any part of the business or property or undertaking or any of the liabilities of the Society, or of undertaking any business or operations which may appear to the board of directors to be likely to assist or benefit the Society or to enhance the value of any property or business of the Society, and to place or guarantee the placing of, underwrite, subscribe for, or otherwise acquire all or any part of the shares or securities of any such company as aforesaid;

- 3.4.15 to sell or otherwise dispose of the whole or any part of the business or property of the Society, either together or in portions, for such consideration as the board of directors may think fit, and in particular (but without limitation) for shares, debentures, or securities of any company purchasing the same;
- 3.4.16 to act as agent or broker and as trustee or nominee for any person, firm or company, and to undertake and perform sub-contracts;
- 3.4.17 subject to Article 3.5, to remunerate any person, firm or company rendering services to the Society by cash payment or otherwise;
- 3.4.18 to pay all or any expenses incurred in connection with the promotion, formation and incorporation of the Society, or to contract with any person, firm or company to pay the same, and to pay commissions to brokers and other for underwriting, placing, selling, or guaranteeing the subscription of any shares or other securities of the Society;
- 3.4.19 to support (whether by direct subscription, the giving of guarantees or otherwise) any charitable, benevolent or educational fund, institution or organisation, or any event or purpose of a public or general nature;
- 3.4.20 to purchase and maintain, for the benefit of any director, officer or auditor of the Society or of any company which is the holding company, a subsidiary, or a fellow subsidiary of the Society, insurance against any liability as is referred to in sections 532 (1) and (3) of the Act and, subject to the provisions of the Act, against any other liability which may attach to him or loss or expenditure which he may incur in relation to anything done or alleged to have been done or omitted to be done as a director (including an alternate director), officer, or auditor and, subject also to the provisions of the Act, to indemnify any such person out of the assets of the Society against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto and, without prejudice to the foregoing, to grant any such indemnity after the occurrence of the event giving rise to any such liability;
- 3.4.21 to procure the Society to be registered or recognised in any part of the world;
- 3.4.22 to do all or any of the things or matters aforesaid in any part of the world and either as principal, agent, contractor or otherwise, and by or through

3.4.23 to do all such other things as may be deemed incidental or conducive to the attainment of the Society's objects or any of them;

### AND so that:

- (a) none of the Objects or Powers shall be restrictively construed but the widest interpretation shall be given to each such Object or Power, and none of such Objects of Powers shall, except where the context expressly so requires, be in any way limited or restricted by reference to or inference from any other Object(s) or Power(s) or inference from the name of the Society;
- (b) none of the Objects therein specified shall be deemed subsidiary or ancillary to any of the Objects specified in any other sub-clause, and the Society shall have full power to exercise each and every one of the Objects;
- (c) the word "company" in these Articles, except where used in reference to the Society, shall be deemed to include any partnership or other body of persons, whether incorporated or unincorporated and whether domiciled in the United Kingdom or elsewhere; and
- in these Articles the expressions "holding company" and "subsidiary" shall have the meanings given to them respectively by sections 1159 (1),
  (2) and (4) of the Act and the expression "subsidiaries" shall include a subsidiary undertaking as defined by sections 1162 (1) to (6) of the Act.
- 3.5 The income and property of the Society shall be applied solely towards the promotion of its objects as set forth in these Articles and no portion thereof shall be paid, transferred or distributed, directly or indirectly, by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise howsoever by way of profit, to members of the Society, and no member of its board of directors shall be appointed to any office of the Society paid by salary or fees or receive any remuneration or other benefit in money or money' worth from the Society PROVIDED THAT nothing herein shall prevent any payment in good faith by the Society:
- 3.5.1of reasonable and proper remuneration to any member, officer or servant of the Society for any services rendered to the Society;

- 3.5.2of interest on money lent by any member of the Society or of its board of directors at a reasonable and proper rate per annum not exceeding two per cent less than the published base lending rate of a clearing bank to be selected by the board of directors;
- 3.5.3of reasonable and proper rent for premises demised or let by any member of the Society or its board of directors;
- 3.5.4of fees, remuneration or other benefit in money or money's worth to any company of which a member of the board of directors may also be a member holding not more than 1(one)% of the capital of that company; and
- 3.5.5to any member of its board of directors of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses.
- 3.6 The liability of the members is limited.
- 3.7 Every member of the Society undertakes to contribute such amount as may be required (not exceeding £1.00) to the Society's assets if it should be wound up while he is a member or within one year after he ceases to be a member, for payment of the Society's debts and liabilities contracted before he ceases to be a member, and of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up, and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributories among themselves.
- 3.8 If upon the winding up or dissolution of the Society there remains after the satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities or other obligations any monies or property whatsoever, the same shall not be paid to or distributed among the members of the Society but shall be given or transferred to some other institution or institutions having objects similar to the objects of this Society, to a charity or charities to be determined by the members of the Society at or before the time of dissolution or, in default thereof, by such judge of the High Court of Justice as may have or acquire jurisdiction in the matter.

# 4. **MEMBERS**

- 4.1 Such persons as are admitted to membership in accordance with these Articles and the Bye-laws of the Society shall be Full Members of the Society for the purposes of the Act. No person shall be admitted a Full Member of the Society unless he is approved by the directors. All Full Members must be natural persons except the Institute.
- 4.2 Membership of the Society as a Full Member shall automatically include membership of the Institute on the terms of such membership from time to time.

- 4.3 At the date of the adoption of these Articles, the Institute is a Full Member of the Society and shall be a Full Member until it gives notice to terminate its membership. A resolution to seek to remove the Institute as a Full Member shall be invalid and of no effect whatsoever.
- 4.4 Every person who wishes to become a Full Member shall deliver to the Society an application for membership in such form as the directors require ("the application form") signed by him.
- 4.5 A certificate of membership in the prescribed form shall be issued to each eligible Full Member. Each certificate shall remain the property of the Society and shall be returned to the Society on demand.
- 4.6 A register shall be kept of all the Full Members and any members of any other classes which shall contain such particulars, including qualification as may from time to time be prescribed by the Board. Each member shall upon request furnish all information necessary to compile such register.
- 4.7 A member may at any time withdraw from the Society by giving at least seven clear days' notice to the Society and by forwarding his certificate of membership to the Society provided that after such withdrawal the number of members remaining is not less than two. Membership shall not be transferable and shall cease on death.
- 4.8 The Board shall be entitled to admit persons to categories of membership (not being Full Members for the purposes of the Act) in accordance with the terms of the Byelaws from time to time.

### 5. **GENERAL MEETINGS**

- 5.1 The Board may call general meetings.
- 5.2 The Board shall also proceed to convene general meetings within 21 days of receipt of a requisition by at least 5% of the total membership as at the date of the last annual general meeting, or in default by such requisitions as provided by Sections 303(1) to (4) inclusive, (6); 304(1), (4); 305(1), (3), (4), (6), (7) of the Act. Subject to section 305(6), (7) of the Act the requisitionists shall meet any costs of a requisitioned meeting.
  - 5.3 The Society shall hold a general meeting in every calendar year as its annual general meeting at such a time and place as may be determined by the Board and shall specify the meeting as such in the notice calling it, provided that every annual

general meeting shall be held not more than fifteen months after the holding of the last preceding annual general meeting.

5.4 All general meetings, other than annual general meetings, shall be called extraordinary general meetings.

## 6. NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

- An annual general meeting and an extraordinary general meeting called for the passing of a special resolution shall be called by at least twenty-one clear days' notice. All other extraordinary general meetings shall be called by at least fourteen clear days' notice but a general meeting may be called by shorter notice if it is so agreed in accordance with section 307(4) to (6) inclusive of the Act. The notice shall specify the time and place of the meeting and, only in the case of special business, the general nature of the business to be transacted and, in the case of an annual general meeting, shall specify the meeting as such.
- 6.2 All business shall be deemed special that is transacted at an extraordinary general meeting, and also all that is transacted at an annual general meeting, with the exception of the consideration of the profit and loss account, balance sheet, and the reports of the directors and auditors and the appointment of and the fixing of the remuneration of the auditors.
- 6.3 Notwithstanding that the Society does not have a share capital every notice convening a general meeting shall comply with the provisions of section 325(1) of the Act as to giving information to members in regard to their right to appoint proxies; and notices of and other communications relating to any general meeting which any member is entitled to receive shall be sent to the directors and to the auditors for the time being of the Society.

# 7. PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

- 7.1 A quorum for general meetings shall be 15 Full Members.
- 7.2 If a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for a general meeting the general meeting shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time and place or to such other day and at such other time and place as the directors may determine; and if at the adjourned general meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed therefore the Full Member or Full Members present in person or by proxy or (being a body corporate) by representative entitled to vote upon the business to be transacted shall constitute a quorum and shall have power to decide upon all matters which could properly have been disposed of at the meeting from which the adjournment took place.
- 7.3 In the case of an equality of votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the chairman shall be entitled to a casting vote in addition to any other vote he may have.
  - 7.4 The chairman (if present) shall preside as chairman at every general meeting, but if there be no chairman, or if at any meeting he shall not be present within fifteen minutes after the time appointed for holding the same, or shall be unwilling to preside, the President or failing him a Vice President shall preside and failing any of them the members present shall choose some member of the Board.

### 8. **VOTES OF MEMBERS**

- 8.1 On a show of hands every Full Member who (being an individual) is present in person or by proxy (not being himself a member entitled to vote) or (being a body corporate) is present by representative or by proxy (not being himself a member entitled to vote) shall have one vote. On a poll every Full Member present in person or by proxy or by duly authorised representative (as the case may be) shall have one vote.
- 8.2 Any proxy shall be entitled to cast the votes to which he is entitled in different ways.
- 8.3 No Full Member shall be entitled to vote at any general meeting unless all monies presently payable by him to the Society have been paid.

# 9. APPOINTMENT AND RETIREMENT OF DIRECTORS

- 9.1 Subject to Articles 9.8, 9.13 and 9.14 the Board shall comprise of up to eight Member Directors up to two Lay Directors, and such Institute Directors as the Institute see fit pursuant to 9.1.2 provided that:
- 9.1.1 the aggregate total of Member Directors and Lay Directors shall not exceed eight;
- 9.1.2 the Institute Directors shall have the right to form the majority of Directors on the Board.
  - 9.2 A Member Director shall be a Full Member of the Society who has as a minimum attained Dip PFS or has equivalent qualifications, or otherwise qualified in accordance with any Bye-laws of the Society. Any resolution to amend this article shall require a 75% vote in favour of the amendment by the members who are voting at a general meeting.
  - 9.3 At each annual general meeting one third of the Member Directors shall retire (provided that: (i) if the number of Member Directors is not three or a multiple of three, the number of Member Directors to retire shall be the number nearest to but greater than one third of the total number of Member Directors; and (ii) the number of Member Directors to retire shall be reduced by the number of Member Directors, if any, who have retired or been removed, and have not subsequently been replaced, since the previous annual general meeting). Those Member Directors so to retire shall be determined by the Member Directors at least six weeks before the relevant annual general meeting. In default of any such determination the Member Directors so to retire shall be those who have been longest in office since their last election or re-election. As between persons who were last elected (or re-elected) to the Board:
    - 9.3.1 if all those last elected (or re-elected) on the same day shall unanimously agree that any one or more of them shall retire by rotation, then that person or those persons shall so retire;
    - 9.3.2 to the extent that further retirements are necessary to make up the required number, the chairman shall call for volunteers and unless the number of volunteers exceeds the number of further required retirements, those volunteering shall so retire;
    - 9.3.3 to the extent that further persons need to retire after Articles 9.3.1 and 9.3.2 above have been complied with, those to retire shall be determined by lot.

- Subject to the recommendation of the Nominations Committee (constituted pursuant to Article 15), the directors may appoint a person who is willing to be a Member Director, either to fill a vacancy or as an additional Member Director, provided that the appointment does not cause the number of Member Directors to exceed any number fixed by or in accordance with the Articles as the maximum number of Member Directors. A Member Director appointed in accordance with this Article 9.4 shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and shall not be taken into account in determining the Member Directors who are to retire by rotation at the meeting. If not reappointed at such annual general meeting, he shall vacate office at the conclusion thereof.
- 9.5 Member Directors may also be appointed or reappointed at an annual general meeting provided that not less than 60 days prior to the date appointed for such meeting, notice executed by Full Members holding not less than 2% of the total voting rights of all the Full Members qualified to vote at the last annual general meeting has been given to the Nominations Committee of the intention to propose that person for appointment or reappointment.
  - 9.6 Not less than fourteen clear days before the date appointed for holding an annual general meeting notice shall be given to all who are entitled to receive notice of the meeting of any person (other than a Member Director retiring by rotation at the meeting) in respect of whom notice has been duly given to the Nominations Committee of the intention to propose him at the meeting for appointment or reappointment as a Member Director in accordance with Article 9.5. The notice shall give the particulars of that person which would, if he were so appointed or reappointed, be required to be included in the Society's register of directors.
- 9.7 If the Society, at the meeting at which a Member Director retires by rotation, does not fill the vacancy the retiring Member Director shall, if willing to act, be deemed to have been reappointed unless at the meeting it is resolved not to fill the vacancy or unless a resolution for the reappointment of the Member Director is put to the meeting and lost.
- 9.8 The Board shall have the right to appoint and remove up to two persons (who are not Members nor employees of the Society or the Institute) as Lay Directors.
- 9.9 A Lay Director appointed in accordance with Article 9.8 shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting.

- 9.10 The Lay Directors shall retire by rotation at the annual general meeting and shall, if willing to act, be deemed to have been reappointed unless at the meeting (i) it is resolved not to fill the vacancy; or (ii) unless a resolution for the reappointment of the Lay Directors is put to the meeting and lost or subject to removal in accordance with Articles 10 and 11.
  - 9.11 If the appointment of any Member Director would cause the number of directors to exceed any number fixed by or in accordance with the Articles as the maximum number of Member Directors then a lot shall be held to determine which Member Directors should be elected or re-elected (as the case maybe).
  - 9.12 Notwithstanding any other provisions of these Articles the maximum term of office of a Member Director and a Lay Director of the Society shall be six years and all Member Directors and Lay Directors shall be deemed to have retired on the sixth anniversary of their appointment as a Member Director or a Lay Director.
  - 9.13 Subject to Article 9.14, the Institute shall have the right to appoint and remove its employees as Institute Directors pursuant to Articles 9.1 and 9.1.2.
  - 9.14 The number of Institute Directors may not comprise a majority of the Board unless a resolution of a meeting of the board of the Institute is passed following:
    - 9.14.1 the Board having received written notice from the board of the Institute of its intention to appoint such number of additional Institute Directors to the Board so that the Institute Directors form the majority of the directors ("Notice");
    - 9.14.2 a subsequent consultation period of 30 days (starting with receipt by the Board of the Notice) having elapsed in which the directors may in their absolute discretion consult between themselves and with the Full Members in relation to the matters which have given rise to a Notice;
    - 9.14.3a feedback period of up to 7 days in which the Board may meet to discuss the results of any such consultation; and
    - 9.14.4the board of the Institute having received minutes of any meetings of the Board relating to the Notice and any consultation or feedback pursuant to Article 9.14.2 and 9.14.3

# 10. **DISQUALIFICATION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS**

The office of a director shall automatically be vacated if:

- 10.1 he ceases to be a director by virtue of any provision of the Act or these Articles or he becomes prohibited by law from being a director; or
- 10.2 he becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with his creditors generally; or
- 10.3 he is, or may be, suffering from mental disorder and either:
  - 10.3.1 he is admitted to hospital in pursuance of an application for admission for treatment under the Mental Health Act 1983 or, in Scotland, an application for admission under the Mental Health (Scotland) Act 1984 or pursuant to any subsequent legislation; or
  - 10.3.2 an order is made by a court having jurisdiction (whether in the United Kingdom or elsewhere) in matters concerning mental disorder for his detention or for the appointment of a receiver, curator bonis or other person to exercise powers with respect to his property or affairs; or
- 10.4 he resigns his office by notice to the Society (unless the Society accepts a shorter notice period); or
- 10.5 he shall for more than six consecutive months have been absent without permission of the directors from meetings of directors held during that period and the directors resolve that his office be vacated; or
- 10.6 he shall cease (in the case of a Member Director) to be a member of the Society; or
- 10.7 in the case of an Institute Director he is removed from the Board by the body appointing him; or
- a resolution of the Board to remove him is passed with a 75% majority.

### 11. ADDITIONAL DISQUALIFICATION AND REMOVAL PROVISIONS

The office of a director shall be vacated at the Society's absolute discretion if:

- 11.1 he is guilty of the following:
  - 11.1.1 refusal or repeated failure to carry out his duties
  - 11.1.2 falsification of documents or information

- 11.1.3 insulting, indecent or offensive behaviour towards members and directors
- 11.1.4 conduct bringing the Society into disrepute
- 11.2 he breaches any of his director's fiduciary duties

# 12. CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT, VICE PRESIDENTS AND CO-OPTS

- 12.1 The directors shall appoint one of the directors to be the chairman of the Board ("Chairman"). Unless he is unwilling to do so, the director so appointed shall preside at every meeting of directors at which he is present. But if there is no director holding that office, or if the director holding it is unwilling to preside or is not present within five minutes after the time appointed for the meeting, the directors present may appoint one of their number to be chairman of the meeting.
- 12.2 The directors shall appoint one of the Member Directors as President ("President") who shall serve in office from one annual general meeting to the next
- 12.3 The directors shall appoint one or more of the Member Directors, if willing to serve, as each of the Vice-Presidents ("Vice President") who shall serve in office from one annual general meeting to the next
- 12.4 The directors may co-opt up to two individuals to attend and speak at meetings of the Board. Such individuals shall not be appointed as directors and shall not be entitled to vote.

### 13. PROCEEDINGS OF THE DIRECTORS

- 13.1 The Board's primary concern shall be the development and implementation of the Society's strategy and Annual Business Plan.
- 13.2 Board meetings shall be held from time to time as determined by the chairman and at least quarterly.
- 13.3Subject to the provisions of the Act, and provided that he has disclosed to the directors the nature and extent of any interest of his, a director notwithstanding his office:
  - 13.3.1may be a party to or otherwise interested in any transaction or arrangement with the Society or in which the Society is in any way interested;
  - 13.3.2may be a director or other officer of or employed by or be a party to any transaction or arrangement with or otherwise interested in any body corporate promoted by the Society or in which the Society is in any way interested;

- 13.3.3may, or any firm or Society of which he is a member or director may, act in a professional capacity for the Society or any body corporate in which the Society is in any way interested;
- 13.3.4shall not by reason of his office be accountable to the Society for any benefit which he derives from such office, service or employment or from any such transaction or arrangement or from any interest in any such body corporate and no such transaction or arrangement shall be liable to be avoided on the ground of any such interest or benefit; and
- 13.3.5shall be entitled to vote on any resolution and (whether or not he shall vote) be counted in the quorum on any matter referred to in any of Articles 13.3.1 to 13.3.4 (inclusive) or on any resolution which in any way concerns or relates to a matter in which he has, directly or indirectly, any kind of interest whatsoever and if he shall vote on any resolution as aforesaid his vote shall be counted.

## 13.4For the purposes of Article 13.3:

- 13.4.1a general notice to the directors that a director is to be regarded as having an interest of the nature and extent specified in the notice in any transaction or arrangement in which a specified person or class of persons is interested shall be deemed to be a disclosure that the director has an interest in any such transaction of the nature and extent so specified;
- 13.4.2an interest of which a director has no knowledge and of which it is unreasonable to expect him to have knowledge shall not be treated as an interest of his; and
- 13.4.3an interest of a person who is for any purpose of the Act (excluding any statutory modification not in force when these Articles were adopted) connected with a director shall be treated as an interest of the director and in relation to an alternate director an interest of his appointer shall be treated as an interest of the alternate director without prejudice to any interest which the alternate director has otherwise.
- 13.5 Any director may participate in a meeting of the directors or a committee of the directors of which he is a member by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment whereby all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other and participation in a meeting in this manner shall be deemed to constitute presence in person at such meeting and, subject to these Articles and the Act, he shall be entitled to vote and be counted in a quorum accordingly. Such a meeting shall be deemed to take place

where the largest group of those participating is assembled or, if there is no such group, where the chairman of the meeting then is.

13.6 The quorum for a meeting of the Board shall be four comprising at least two Non-Member Directors to include one Institute Director and two Member Directors.

## 14. **ALTERNATE DIRECTORS**

No director may appoint any other director, or any other person, to be an alternate director.

### 15. NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE

15.1 The Nominations Committee shall be appointed by the Board and shall consist of at least five members, including the President, the President who served immediately before the current President ("Immediate Past President") and two Non-Member Directors including one Institute Director, the others being Member Directors or Full Members with equivalent qualifications to those required of a Member Director. The Committee shall be chaired by the President and include such individuals as set out from time to time in the Bye-laws.

- 15.2 The principal functions of the Nominations Committee, but without restriction on the generality of the foregoing, shall be:
  - 15.2.1 to advise and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Member Directors to the Board provided that the directors shall be under no obligation to accept any recommendation of the Nominations Committee; and
  - 15.2.2 to keep under review the composition of the Board generally and to advise the Board on any changes that the Nominations Committee may think desirable to ensure that the balance of interests represented on the Board remains appropriate; and
  - 15.2.3 to comply with or carry out any other duties delegated to it by the Board from time to time.

### 16. APPROVAL BY THE INSTITUTE

The rights conferred on the Institute under these Articles may only be varied or abrogated with the prior consent in writing of the Institute. No changes to the Bye Laws shall be made without the prior consent in writing of the Institute.

## 17. RULES OR BYE-LAWS

- 17.1 The directors may from time to time make such rules or bye laws as they may deem necessary or expedient or convenient for the proper conduct and management of the Society and in particular but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, it may by such rules or Bye-laws regulate:
  - 17.1.1 the admission and classification of members of the Society, and the rights and privileges of such members, and the conditions of membership and the terms on which members may resign or have their membership terminated;
  - 17.1.2 the conduct of members of the Society in relation to one another, and to the Society's servants;
  - 17.1.3 the procedure at general meetings and meetings of the directors and committees in each case constituted pursuant to these Articles in so far as such procedure is not regulated by these Articles;
  - 17.1.4 and, generally, all such matters as are commonly the subject matter of such rules,

provided, nevertheless, that no rule or Bye-law shall be inconsistent with, or shall affect or repeal anything contained in these Articles.

# 18. THE SEAL

If the Society has a seal it shall be used only with the authority of the directors or of a committee of the directors. The directors may determine who shall sign any instrument to which the seal is affixed and unless otherwise so determined, every instrument to which the seal is affixed shall be signed by one director and by the secretary or another director.

# 19. **NOTICES**

Where a notice is sent by post, proof of the notice having been posted in a properly addressed, prepaid envelope shall be conclusive evidence that the notice was given

- and shall be deemed to have been given at the expiration of 24 hours (or 48 hours if sent by second class post) after the envelope containing the same is posted.
- 19.2 If at any time by reason of the suspension or curtailment of postal services within the United Kingdom the Society is unable effectively to convene a general meeting by notices sent through the post, a general meeting may be convened by a notice advertised in at least one national daily newspaper and such notice shall be deemed to have been duly served on all members entitled thereto at noon on the day when the advertisement appears. In any such case the Society shall send confirmatory copies of the notice by post if at least seven days prior to the meeting the posting of notices to addresses throughout the United Kingdom again becomes practicable.

#### 20. ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS

- 20.1 The Society may send or supply documents or information to members relating to the Society by making them available on a website or other electronic means.
- 20.2 Website and other electronic means include the Society's website, electronic mail, fax and any other means while in an electronic form.
- 20.3 Documents and information that are to be supplied by electronic mail or fax shall only be sent or supplied to an address of a member specified for the purpose by that member.
- 20.4 The consent of each member shall be requested prior to the supply of documents or information on a website or via other electronic means.
- 20.5 Each member shall be deemed to have agreed to receive electronic communications if that member fails to respond to the Society's request for consent within 28 days of the date of notification of the request.

#### **21INDEMNITY**

21.1 Subject to the provisions of sections 532 and 533 of the Act every director (including an alternate director) or other officer of the Society shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Society against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the lawful execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto, including any liability incurred by him in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favour or in which he is acquitted or in connection with any application under sections 660 (1) (2) and 661 (1) (2) (3) and (4) or section 1157 (1) to (3) of the Act in which relief is granted to him by the court, and no director (including an alternate director) or other officer shall be liable for any loss, damage or misfortune which

may happen to or be incurred by the Society in the lawful execution of the duties of his office or in relation thereto. Regulation 118 of Table A shall not apply to the Society.

- 21.2The directors shall have power to purchase and maintain for any director, (including an alternate director) officer or auditor of the Society insurance against any such liability as is referred to in section 532 (1) and (3) of the Act and, subject to the provisions of the Act, against any other liability which may attach to him or loss or expenditure which he may incur in relation to anything done or alleged to have been done or omitted to be done as a director, (including as an alternate director) officer or auditor.
- 21.3The directors may authorise the directors of companies within the same group of companies as the Society to purchase and maintain insurance at the expense of the Society for the benefit of any director (including an alternate director), other officer or auditor of such company in respect of such liability, loss or expenditure as is referred to in Article 21.2.